

The Practice Of Principals' Leadership In Secondary Schools Of Yem Special Woreda

#### BY

## **Abinet Wolde Surra**

## JIMMA UNIVERSITY

## COLLEGE OF EDUCATION AND BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO JIMMA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF EDUCATION AND BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR MASTER OF ARTS DEGREE IN EDUCATIONAL LEADERSHIP.

**ADVISOR: Frew Amsalu** 

Co -Advisor: FediluAbbagumbul (MA.)

December, 2021

Jimma, Ethiopia





# THE PRACTICE OF PRINCIPALS' LEADERSHIP IN SECONDARY SCHOOLS OF YEM SPECIAL WOREDA



By: AbinetWoldeSurra

Advisor: FrewAmsale (MA.)

Co -Advisor: FediluAbbagumbul (MA.)

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO JIMMA UNIVERSITY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT COLLEGE OF EDUCATION AND BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR MASTER OF ARTS DEGREE IN EDUCATIONAL LEADERSHIP.

December, 2021

Jimma, Ethiopia

#### JIMMA UNIVERSITY

# DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT MA FIRST DRAFT THESIS APPROVAL FORM

## AbinetWoldeSurra

Name

The practice of Principals	•	ary schools of Yem Special
	Woreda	
Student's Signature	Date	2
I reviewed and approved this MA	thesis, and that it has satis	fied the requirements of the
programme.		
External Examiner	Signature	Date
Internal Examiner	Signature	Date
Thesis Advisor:		
FrewAmsale (MA.)	Da	te
Name	Signature	
Co-advisor (if there is one):		

Signature

Fedilu Aba Gumbul (MA.) Date \_\_\_\_\_

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First and for most I would Like to thank my LORD and savior God for His underserved mercy that He endowed up on me open an opportunity to join Jimma University .And specially He permitted and made me to overcoming all hindrances to graduate in 2013 E.C , my Master in Art Degree in Educational Leadership .

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor FrewAmsale and my co-advisor FediluAbbagumbul, for their continuous support and invaluable comments. They spent their precious time in commenting my work and showing me the right direction that they found very important for the accomplishment of my thesis.

My greatest gratitude is extended to my friends AtoAsaminew G/wold /B.A/, Wogayehu G/tsadik /B.A/, BelaynehGeremew /M.A/ and MisganaFerede /M.A/ for being support me through out this study .

# **Table of Contents**

Contents	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
Table of Contents	ii
List of table	v
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER ONE	1
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Back ground of the study	
1.2 Statement of the Problem	3
1.3 Objective of the Study	5
1.3.1. General Objective	5
1.3.2. Specific Objective	5
1.4. Significance of the Study	5
1.5. Delimitation of the Study	6
1.6 Limitation of the Study	6
1.7. Definition of the Key Terms	6
1.8. Organization of the Study	7
CHAPTER TWO	8
2. Review of the Related Literature	8
2.1 The Concept of Leadership	8
2.2 Theoretical Background of Leadership	9
2.2.1 Trait Theory	9
2.2.2 Relationship Theory	10
2.2.3 Contingency Theory	10
2.3 Leadership Skills of Leaders	10
2.3.1 Technical Skills	11
2.3.2 Human Relation Skills	11
2.3.3 Conceptual Skills	12
2.4 Leadership in Education	13
2.4.1 Creating a Vision:	13

2.4.2 Setting High Expectations	14
2.4.3 Building the Capacity of Leadership	14
2.4.4 Demonstrating Ethical and Moral Leadership	14
2.5 Educational Leadership at School Level	14
2.6 Managerial Functions of School Leadership	15
2.6.1 Educational Planning	15
2.6.2 Delegation of Authority	17
2.6.3 Organizing	17
2.6.4 Communication	17
2.6.5 Decision Making	18
2.6.6 Motivation	19
2.6.7 School Principal as a Change Agent	20
2.7 Leadership Development in Ethiopia	20
2.8 Factors Affecting the Effectiveness of the School Principals	21
2.8.1 Lack of Training and Skills	22
2.8.2 Lack of Resource	22
2.8.3 Impact and Constraining Factors on Duty	22
2.8.4 The Personal Quality of the Principals	23
2.8.5 Shortage of Time	23
2.8.6 Teacher- Principals Interaction	23
2.8.7 The Way of Decision Making	23
2.8.8 Motivational Factors	24
CHAPTER THREE	25
3. Research Design and Methods	25
3.3 Sources of Data	25
3.4 Target Population	26
3.5 Sample and sample size	26
Table 3.1 Population and Sample Size of Respondents	26
Table 3.2 Population and Sample Size of Respondents by Sex	27
3.5 Data collection instrument and procedures	27
3.6 Procedures of Data Collection	27
3.7 Method of Data Analysis	28

CHAPTER FOUR	29
4 .Presentation, Analysis and Interpretation of Data	29
4.2 Socio- Demographic Information of the Respondents	30
CHAPTER FIVE	42
5. Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations	42
5.1 Summary of Findings	42
5.2 Conclusions	44
5.3 Recommendations	45
REFERENCES	46
Appendix- A	51
Appendix-B	56

# List of table

Table 4.1 Principals' Leadership Practice in Effective Planning	31
Table 4.2 Principal's Performance in Goal Clarification	32
Table 4.3 Current Practice of Principals' Leadership in Organizing Process	32
Table 4.4 Principals' Leadership Practice in Decision Making Process	33
Table 4.5 Resource Management Capacity of Principals'	34
Table 4.6 Principals' Leadership Practice in bringing ready for Change	34
Table 4.7 Factors that Affect Principals' Leadership Roles	35
Table 4.8 Principal's Role in Supervision of Classroom	36
Table 49 Principals' Role in Making Relationship and Work Together	37
Table 4.10 Principals' Role in Staff Development	38
Table 4.11 Principal's Role in Evaluating Academic out Comes	39
Table 4.12 The major factors that affect the practice of principal's leadership	40
Table 4.13 Reasons why the practice of principals' leadership is not successful	41

#### **ABSTRACT**

The Practice of Principals' Leadership focuses on Secondary Schools of Yem Special WoredaThe purpose of this study was to examine the practices of Principals' Leadership in secondary schools ofYem Special woreda. The study employed descriptive survey design and was conducted in six secondary schools. To collect the relevant data questionnaire, interview and document analysis were used during the study. Data was gathered from 48(30%) teachers, 6(100%) school principals, 2(100%) vice principals, 2(100%) supervisors and 6(31%) Yem Special Woreda education office workers and a total of 64 (33%) respondents were analyzing by using five rating scales and mean. The data obtained through questionnaires were analyzed using statistical tool such as mean. On the basis of this finding principals are less effective in their leadership due to lack of experience and qualification in the profession. Finally, based on the findings and conclusions, recommendations were made on capacity building and empowering of principals to do their work effectively, in turn, encouraging the practice of principals' Leadership. Furthermore, Yem Special Woreda Education Bureau is responsible to give directives and guidelines in the case that whenever shortcomings and gaps are observed and the schools should organized public relations to create school-community links.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### 1. Introduction

This chapter deals with the problem and its approach. The main purpose of the study is to assess the practice of Principals' leadership in secondary schools of Yem special woreda. It begins with a brief background of the study and continues with statement of the problem, objectives of the study, significance of the study, delimitation of the study, Limitation of the study, operational definitions and Organization of the study.

## 1.1. Back ground of the study

Educationand training is vital instrument for fighting backwardness and poverty in a country. Nowadays many countries have been exerting their efforts to achieve quality education. Derebessa (2006) empirical evidence suggests that educational investment has been one of the most important factors that contribute to economic growth in both developed and developing countries. However , bringing quality of education has been a great challenge to be addressed parallel to the expansion of educational access. Concerning the quality of education , pigozzi (2008) enlightenedthat poor qualities frustrates efforts to use education as an effective device for economic growth and development in this age of accelerating globalization.

Education is one of the major driving forces behind economic, social, culture and political development of a country. It is a key instrument for the overall development of a country. Realizing this, the government of Ethiopia is placing great attention on education with firm belief that the long-term development of the country rests up on the expansion and provision of quality education (MoE, 2005).

Any program is expected to have a certain goal and, the success or failure of a program is assessed by checking whether or not its goal is achieved. This is, usually, done during and/or after the program is implemented. Besides, most of the factors which determine the success or failure of a program are closely connected with those things which occur at the implementation stage. In fact, this statement does not neglect those decisive factors associated with the planning or developmental stages of a program that affect the attainment of the goals of the program itself Getnet (1996).

The most important institution that support and promote rapid socio economic development is school. Schools like other organization have goals to be achieved. They are agents of transmitting knowledge, skill and desired attitudes to students. In line with the attention given to education, the importance of Principals' leadership is a major corner because it plays a considerable role in the process of change and development (Musaazi1988). Conforming this idea, Ubben and Hughes (1997) states that with increased value put on Principals' leadership, what comes to vision is the school as an environment of change the productivity of which depends mainly on the ability of its leaders to analyze existing conditions and futurechallenges and implement strategies for attaining the goals. Again among the various over all strategies of ESDP-III to improve quality of education, one is the need for establishment of efficient school leadership and management (MoE, 2005).

However, in implementing educational strategies and in bringing changes in the educational systems, principals in the secondary school face many problems due to their position Morphet et.al, (1982:295). Their position is vulnerable to many types of role conflicts. They are under pressure from their super ordinates to meet the goals of the organization on the one hand and from the teachers to meet their personal needs on the other. Moreover, schools are formal organizations and are staffed predominantly by professionals. This has implications for the nature or management in educational institutions because professionals seek a measure of control over their working environment. In professional organization, then there is an authority of expertise which may come into conflict with professional authority.

Today Principals' leaders are expected more to facilitate sound, productive teaching learning environment. To address this leadership ability, skill and knowledge is critical (Mclaughlin, 1987). Thus Principals' leaders are expected to be strong, responsible, committed and visionary. To this end, some principals and other educational leaders may lack behind due to limited capacity they have.

In line with this, in the Ethiopian case, an attempt has been made to make the educational management system decentralized and professional. But, still a lot remains to be done particularly in the area of training and professionalizing principal ship. Owing to this fact principals failed to play their key leadership role(MoE2002). Strengthening this idea, YemSpecial

woreda education bureau teachers and Principals' leadership core process owner (2010) annual report as translated from Amharic to English, state that,

Because of the problems of leading and applying resources and by continuous professional development programs ,school leaders didn't accomplish their model and supportive roles. Due to this fact the Yem special woreda education bureau has evaluated that, the package of quality education assurance hasn't been practiced in all secondary schools. As a result, improvement of students' result is not improved as intended.

#### **1.2 Statement of the Problem**

Leadership is important in any organization. It sets the conditions and expectations for excellent instruction and the building of a culture of ongoing learning for educators and for the learners in a school (Kyla & Karen, 2010). Leadership is an approach to improve the competitiveness, effectivenessand flexibility of the whole organization through planning, organizing and allowing participation of all members at the appropriate level (Oakland, 2010). A school system is one of the public institutions having its own specific goals and objectives to be achieved and such task is given to school leaders. Therefore, leadership is at the core of every successful organization (Sergiovanni as cited in Temesgen, 2011). Moreover, leadership within the school is collegial, student-center and teacher focused, promoting collective responsibility for change agent (MoE, 2010).

The essential role of Principals' in any schools has been pointed out by Sharma (2005), all successful schools activity is a result of the exercise of creative leadership towards some mutually accepted attainable objectives. Moreover, organizations are places of determining the future fate of the national and that of its attendants and produce skilled and trained human power that could solve the problem of a country.

On the other hand, the major problem for schools can be ineffective leadership. It is essential to provide effective leadership at the school level as schools are the scene of implementing educational programs. Based on her study McEwan(2003) has found out that lack of skills and training, teacher cooperation, vision and good will, and shortage of time are common impediments to principals' leadership effectiveness. Inadequate leadership at the school level is the one that adversely affects the progress of education because success in any educational institution depends significantly on effective and sound leadership.

Moreover, the principal personality, vision, extent of commitment, human relation skill's etc. can serve to constrain/hamper the exercise of leadership. Strengthening this idea, Gorten(1983) states that if the principal doesn't possess the appropriate personal qualities needed, the absence of these characteristics can be self—constrain out leadership responsibilities properly.

In light of the above ideas, secondary school principals in YemSpecilaWoreda are expected to perform well with their leadership activities such as management of resources, public relation and involving and working with parents, working with school communities in different school affairs, student discipline, curriculum improvement, professional development and evaluation to meet needs of the educational objectives, supervision, research work, goal clarification, planning and provision of instructional materials (MoE, 1994 E.C).

However, from my own experience of secondary school as a principal for the past eight years in the Yem SpecialWoreda and from observation at different educational conferences, annual educational evaluations and supervision reports, almost all secondary school principals in Yem SpecialWoreda have been fulfilled the required educational level or firs degree for the principal position. But, almost all secondary schools are not managed by professional principals those who are graduates of Educational Leadership. Rather they were drawn from different fields of study. The researcher preferred Yem Special Woreda among the other Woredas that found in South Region, that Yem Special Woreda education office was poor in its educational performance in the academic year of 2010 E.C as the evaluation made by Yem Special Woreda education bureau. The researcher has been taken the initiative to investigate the problem of the practice of principals' leadership behind this achievement. Therefore, Yem Special Woreda has become the focus area for the study.

Therefore, the purpose of this study is to investigate the practices of principals' leadership in Secondary schools of Yem SpecialWoreda. To this effect, the following basic research questions are employed.

- 1. How is the practices of principals' leadership in secondary schools of YemSpecilaWoreda?
- 2. What are the major factors that affect the practices of principals' leadership in thesecondary schools of Yem SpecialWoreda?

3. What are the measures taken to improve principals' leadership in the secondary schools in Yem SpecialWoreda is not successful?

## 1.3 Objective of the Study

## 1.3.1. General Objective

The overall objective of this study was to assess the practices of principals' leadership insecondary schools of Yem Special Woreda.

## 1.3.2. Specific Objective

The specific objectives of the study were:

- To examine how principals' leadership is practiced in the secondary schools.
- To identify factors that affects the principals' leadership in secondary schools.
- To recite the measures to be taken to improve the principals leadership in the secondary schools.

### 1.4. Significance of the Study

The study is expected to have the following importance.

The result of this study would be significant for principals, directors and the whole school concern of these selected schools. It would lead to better understanding of principals' roles in accordance with the actual position held. The research will provide information for instructional leaders how they can coordinate the teachers and parents in improving students' success. The study may also serve as the stepping stone for other researchers interested to conduct researches in the area. It would help to create awareness on the part of the school leaders about the different roles of instructional leaders and the challenges they will face in their realworld.

It may also serve as information source for educational officials at different levels of the education hierarchy to identify the gaps existed in relation to the instructional leadership and address the problems in the future. It may serve as stepping-stone for those who want to carry out in-depth research on the topic in the study area. It may also provide valuable information to the schools about how do they practice of leadership roles and enable them to take corrective actions for the major challenges they faced.

It may help the principals' of secondary school to be aware of the major problems they face so that they may find ways and means to alleviate them. It may throw light on the nature of the problem and initiated the concerned body to undertake further research work. It may encourage the concerned bodies to take the necessary action to address those identified problems and help to improve the leadership effectiveness in secondary schools.

## 1.5. Delimitation of the Study

YemSpecilWoredaisGeographically found in SNNPR. It is located at 239 km from south west of Addis Ababa city and 117 km apart from east of Jimma town almost on a mid-way of Addis to Jimma main road. In Yem Special Woredathere are six Secondary Schools and forty two primary schools and it is difficult to cover all this schools in the study, because it needs large amount of human, financial, materials and time resources. Thus to make it manageable, the study is delimited only six secondary schools that found in Yem SpecialWoreda.

## 1.6 Limitation of the Study

It was a challenge to develop a reliable research instrument and to construct research framework. The second limitation was lack of the research limited to only six schools as the result it may affect generalization of the findings to all schools in the Zone. Other important constraints of this study was failure to incorporate school unit leaders, Parent Teacher Association and Kebele Education and Training Board members as data sources who are important stakeholders of education system and who are believed to have some information regarding overall process of practices of leadership. This exclusion was due to shortage of time to collect data from this source. As the result of these above mentioned limitations, the outcomes of the study were not as completed as it was initially anticipated. Therefore, the researcher managed the limitation by limited numbers of the participants by focused on those who are nearer and more concerned to instructional leadership.

# 1.7. Definition of the Key Terms

**Leader**: - is a person who leads a group of people, especially the head of a country, organization etc. A leader in a group of people or an organization is the person who is control of it or in charge of it.

**Leadership**: - the quality that make someone a good leader. Or the methods a leader uses to do his/her job. It is the state or position of being a leader.

**Organization**: - a group of people who form a business, club etc together in order to achieve a particular form.

**Institution**: - is a set of circumstances in which one finds oneself

**Situational**: - A set of circumstances in which one finds oneself.

# 1.8. Organization of the Study

This Research Thesis organized into five chapters. Chapter one deals with the introduction which encompasses background of the study, statement of the problem, objectives of the study, significance of the study, delimitation of the study, limitation ofthe study, definition of terms and organization of the study and. Chapter two deals with review of related literature. Chapter three discusses the research design and methodology. Chapter four deals presentation and analysis of data andchapter five contains the summary, conclusion and useful recommendation based on the findings for the research questions. At the end, a list of reading materials and appendices are attached.

#### CHAPTER TWO

#### 2. Review of the Related Literature

The major purpose of this chapter is to provide the thesis with the concept of principals' leadership a theoretical perspective on leadership in general, leadership skills, Leadership in education, principals' leadership at school level, The managerial functions of school leadership, Leadership development in Ethiopia, Factors affecting principals' managerial roles, Factors affecting the effectiveness of school principals in particular.

#### 2.1 The Concept of Leadership

There are several definitions given to leadership. The term leadership can define in different aspects by different scholars as they perceive what leadership means. Leadership is the art of influencing people to direct their will, abilities and efforts towards the accomplishment of common goals. Leadership is also defined as "process of encouraging and helping others to work enthusiastically towards objectives" (Davis, 1967). On the other hand McGregor (1966) defines leadership as a property of individuals, but a complex relationship among those variables. It follows that leadership is the natural and acquired property of an individual manifested in the process of influencing individuals or groups to attain a certain common ends through common grounds and on equal footing. Blanchard and Herssey (1982) define leadership as the activity of influencing people to strive for group objectives. Likewise, Koontz et al (1984) define leadership as the process of influencing people so that they will strive willingly and enthusiastically towards the achievement of group goals. It also implies making people perform up to their full capacity. Considering the basic principles and concepts of leadership the school leader's role is therefore to encourage the teaching and non-teaching personnel to work together and to fully cooperate in the development and implementation of educational policies, directives and plan for effective and efficient management which ensure proper teaching learning process. According to Northouse (2001), "leadership is a process whereby an individual influences a group of individuals to achieve a common goal." Since leadership is a large part of the influence, the idea of power comes into play. Every instructional leader within the school system has this type of power. "Power is the capacity or potential to influence. People have power when they have the ability to affect others" beliefs, attitudes, and courses of action" (pg. 6). School principals who possess the quality of guiding and directing their teachers towards the attainment

of educational goals are leaders. The school principals at all levels have to perform the function of leaders because they lead teachers whose energies have to follow in a definite direction.

Accordingly, effective school leaders establish effective groups, good educational plans, good school programs, adequate facilities, adequately qualified teachers, etc. what is required is good administrative leadership to harness these for the success of the school.

## 2.2 Theoretical Background of Leadership

The need to lead and the need to be led is a pervasive feature of human being therefore leadership has great value in human society. Since the coming into existence of leadership, many studies have been conducted and various scholars, authors, educators, and others have said a lot about leadership on its various aspects such as duty of leaders and characteristics of effective leaders. In order to express their ideas, different theories were developed.

#### 2.2.1 Trait Theory

This theory is also known as the "great man theory" because according to this theory leaders are born and not made (Kreitner and Kinicki, 2001) and Morphet et.al (1982). According to this theory it was believed that leadership was a result of personality trait or characteristics that leaders posses but not followers (Moorhead and Giffin, 1995). Hence, this theory of leadership focuses on leaders own behavior and suggests that the same qualities are likely to be presented in all those individuals who lead others (Rashid and Archer, 1983). Most of advocating of this theory was devoted to the identification of traits of qualities of leaders on the assumption that people could be classified into leaders and followers (Koonz and Weihrich, 1988).

Stogdill (cited in Rashid and Archer, 1983), identified some of the special characteristics that an effective leader should posses. These special qualities are high degree of originality, adaptability, integrity, popularity and expertise. Therefore according to the trait theory of leadership since all people did not posses all of these qualities, only those who posses them would be considered potential leaders (Landers and Myers, 1997).

Yukl (1999) looked back in to early researchers on trait theories of leadership and indicated that most of the study on the theory identified certain qualities as the characteristics of effective leadership. The qualities were mostly: physical characteristics (eg.Height, appearance) aspects of personality (eg. self esteem, dominance, stability emotion) aptitudes (general intelligence, verbal fluency and creativity).

This theory was found invalid and has been disproved by different researches, for instance Yukl himself had observed the trait approach to leadership and wrote that the old assumption that leaders are born has been discredited completely, and the premise that certain leader trait are absolutely necessary for effective leadership has been substantiated in several decades of trait research. Generally due to various criticisms the trait approach to leadership has been greatly discouraged if not totally abolished.

#### 2.2.2 Relationship Theory

The attention has been shifted from the determination what effective leaders are to what effective leaders do (peretomoder, 1991). Scholars then contributed their research investigation in order to identify leader behavior that was crucial for the satisfaction of group and organizational goals. Finally two major behaviors of leaders were identified as consideration and initiation structure (Glatter et.al 1988, 1996, and Rashid and Archer, 1983:213), Hersay et.al 1998).

Consideration refers to the extent to which a leader acts in a worm supporting way, mutual respect trust for others and friendship. Initiating structure refers the extent to which leader detach himself /herself from the members of work group and define and structure his/her own roles and the role of subordinates toward the attainment of organization (Begley and Leonard, 199) Moorhead and Griffin, 1995). The importance of this approach is that the two dimension of leadership behavior are real and observable that account for grate proportions of actual behaviors that they provide a frame work for solving problems in school organizations (Lunenburg and Ornstein, 1991).

## 2.2.3 Contingency Theory

Contingency theories suggest that there is no one best style of leadership. Successful and enduring leaders use different styles according to the nature of the situation and the followers Roger (2006).

# 2.3 Leadership Skills of Leaders

Managers at every plan, organize, lead and control. As used here in relations to the school principal's functions Tedesco and Mitcheu, (1995:8) describes skills as follows;

A skill implies an ability that can be developed is not necessarily inborn, and is evident when one works. How much of these skills an individual need depends on his/her job, the level of

management at which the job is classified and the type of responsibilities assigned and the size of the organization.

Thus the skill of the principal is referring to his/her over all abilities to exercise the authority and power equivalent to his/her position expertly to bring about effective changes in the school he/she assigned. From this perspective, principals having the necessary skills of lacking of them could have a positive or negative impact in the attainment of the educational goals of the school.

Being this, Katz (1974) has suggested that successful managers must exhibit three district types of skills. Although these skills are interrelated in practice, they can be considered separately. The three basic kinds of skills are; technical skills, human relation skills and conceptual skills.

#### 2.3.1 Technical Skills

According to Koontz and Weihrich (1988:323), "technical skills are the knowledge and proficiency in activities involving methods, procedures and processes". A technical skill is the ability of applying knowledge, methods and techniques that are necessary for the performance of the given tasks (Katz, 1974).

According to Bell (1992) technical tasks are those, which are specific to primary purpose of the school. The primary purpose of the school is the education of its people. Since the most important and major purpose of the school is teaching learning activities, principals should be competent in their specialized areas. School principals need to possess adequate knowledge of methods, procedures process and techniques that could be applied in interpreting the curriculum by all teachers.

Technical skills are generally associated with the ability to use tools, procedures, and techniques of specialized areas. Therefore, school principals as leading practitioners should be able to be competent in technical skills such as in scheduling, managing curriculum, and supervisory activities.

#### 2.3.2 Human Relation Skills

Human relation is one of the most important aspects of managerial skills of principals. A human skill refers to the school executive's ability to work effectively and efficiently with other people on a one-to-one basis and in-group setting.

The skill requires considerable self-understanding and acceptance as well as appreciation, empathy, and consideration for others (Rue and Byars, 1992). According to Badaway (1982), human relation skills are the ability to work with, communicate with, and motivate individuals and groups in the organization. Similarly, Hersey and Blanchard (1982) described human skills as the ability and judgment in working with and through people including an understanding of motivation and application of leadership.

If good human relations are to be prevailing among the school personnel, principals must have the desire to see the group must reduce conflict. In a position in which success depends upon working through others, friendliness must have an outgoing quality. Hence in order to work with and through people, principals are required to acquaint themselves with the knowledge of what motivates the staff, how to work cooperatively with them and how to create common networks in the school so as to give fresh impetus to the provision of instructional to clients. Therefore, in order to be effective in the human relation aspects of school, principals should be competent in applying the concept of motivation, seek to exert the relevant style leadership and need to be good communicators.

## 2.3.3 Conceptual Skills

Conceptual skills include the school executive's ability to see the school, the district, and the total educational program as a whole. The skill includes the effective mapping of interdependence for each of the components of the school as an organization.

According to Williams's et al (1985) conceptual skills involves the ability to understand how the parts of an organization depend as each other. Conceptual skills involve understanding the part of a business to one another and to the business as a whole.

Conceptual skills, therefore, enable organizational leaders to see the overall features of organization to understand interrelationship, interaction and interdependence of various components of a system. In terms of leadership it means sensitivity to the organization.

Rue and Byars (1992) stated that, managerial skills are so closely interrelated that in practice that is difficult to determine where one begins and another ends. However, it is generally agreed that supervisory management needs more technical skills than managers at higher levels. Human skills are essential to effective management at all levels. Conceptual skills become increasingly important as a person moves up the managerial hierarchy. Similarly, Katz (1974) suggested that

although each of these skills are important to school executive's at all hierarchical level, technical skills are most important to administrators at lower levels, and conceptual skills are more important to those at the upper levels.

The emphasis on technical and conceptual may vary with management level, but human skills are the common denominator that appears to be crucial at all levels.

## 2.4 Leadership in Education

A school system is one of the public institutions having its own specific goals and objectives to be achieved. Such tasks are given to school leaders. Nowadays, the success of a school to accomplish its goals depends largely on the ability of the leaders. Here, principals are prominent figures to lead the school community for improvement.

Educational researches on school effectiveness have recently been dominated by the concept of principals as leaders. As to Sergiovanni (1995) Principals" key functions in effective schools in establishing goal consensus among staff and developing an institutional identity. Therefore, it is a fact that a school principals" leadership behavior has a subtle influence on the progress of the school. Effective leadership is at the core of every successful organization. It is relatively recognized by:

# 2.4.1 Creating a Vision:

A vision refers to the shared values and aspiration agreed by the members of the organization, which guides the present action and decision to create a desirable future. Chance (1991) describes vision as being the force of the dream towards which effective administrators strive in the development and shaping of their schools. Conley, Dunlop and Goldman (1992) explained vision by using the metaphor of an internal compass that assists an organization in understanding how its action relates to its organizational goals.

Effective leaders communicate the vision and direct all actions towards achieving the vision. They cultivate and focus the strengths of colleagues to achieve the shared vision. And such leaders seek counseling and advice to learn from the knowledge and experience of others, while they freely offer their expertise to those who seek it.

#### 2.4.2 Setting High Expectations

Effective school leaders use analysis of best practice in education that to be responsive and proactive in changing schools to prepare students for the Future in which they live. They focus on students" achievement data and measure success in terms of positive student outcomes. They provide the motivation and encouragement that lead to success and they manage effectively in a changing educational environment.

## 2.4.3 Building the Capacity of Leadership

School leaders develop the skill and talents of those around them. They are also capable of leading change and helping others through the change process. Effective school leaders encourage shared decision—making with the school community including staff, students and parents. They are both the guardian and reformer of the educational system, and they ensure that all groups are engaged in a common goal and moving in the same direction. Wossenu (2006) has asserted that as the evidence supplies quality school leaders understand teaching and are respected by their staff; and these persons are willing to hold themselves and others responsible for student learning and enhancing the capacity of teachers to meet this goal. Effective school leaders work to share leadership responsibilities throughout all levels of the educational organization.

# 2.4.4 Demonstrating Ethical and Moral Leadership

Effective principals are role models of ethical and moral leadership. Wossenu (2006) Such school leaders demonstrate courage in difficult situations, and provide a model of moral leadership for others to emulate. They also tend to make difference in the lives of students, and impart a philosophy their positive relationship built on trust improves the quality of life for all individuals. Leaders with integrity are focused and purposeful, and are always attentive to being consistent with what they pay and what they do.

# 2.5 Educational Leadership at School Level

The school effectiveness and improvement have become interactional phenomena that have begun to reveal some of the key issues in enhancing performance. A generalization of such studies has emphasized and reemphasized the vital importance of school leadership in developing schools in order to ensure that pupils and students gain as much as possible from their educational experiences (Brundrett and Terrell, 2004). This is why contemporary educational reform places great emphasis on effective school leadership management. These

practical researches at school level have been indicating that a co-relationship between leadership and high level of student learning (Hopkins, 2000). According to Adesina, (1990:186) of the process affecting the school system, probably none is more important than the school leaders who have the responsibility for recommending change in educational activity and facilitate learning some schools are exceptional in their competency. All the reason that present of differentiates them from others not be known. But he present of educational leadership, in education has been considered as an essential factor by research in effective schools.

Actually, for the success of schools, educational leaders are expected to play a pivotal role and great is expected from them as they are in a position to facilitate conditions and arrange the necessary inputs for school effectiveness. Sharma, (2005) on his part state that the key factors to the individual school's success is the building principal who sets the tone as the school educational leader, enforces the positive and convince the students, parents and teachers that all children can learn and improve academically.

According to Fullani (cited in Harris and Muijs, 2005), although the quality of teaching strongly influences pupil motivation and achievement, it has been consistently argued that the quality of leadership matters in determining the motivation of teachers and the quality of teaching in the classroom. Thus, leadership, change and school improvement are closely related. It is clear that when schools are functioning especially well and school achievement is high, much of the credit typically belongs to the principals (Sergiovani, 2001). This is why, Harris, (2003), state that "it has been consistently argued that the quality of headship (leadership) matters in determining the motivation of teachers and quality of learning which takes place in the classroom.

# 2.6 Managerial Functions of School Leadership

The function of educational management can be categorized under 5 basic functions of management. On this issue Adesina (1990) clearly stated that "I often like to remember the basic functions of management by the word POSED (plan, organize, staff, evaluate and develop).

# 2.6.1 Educational Planning

Planning is a rational process of preparing a set of decision for future actions directed at achieving goals and objectives by optional means (Mussazi, 1982). Planning is also defined as a way of protecting our intentions, which is a method of deciding what we want to accomplish

(Adesina, 1990). Planning deals essentially with concepts of the future; problems requiring imagination and choice, design and deliberate forethought.

Culberston (1971) has noted that there are essentially two interrelated kinds of systematic planning, each of which has different purposes; strategic planning and management planning. Each of these may be utilized for both - long & short range planning with some aspects of education.

Strategic planning which fosters and requires productive relation and linkages with public agencies and groups other than those directly responsible for education, should receive primary attention because it involves the determination of policies and the establishment of new or revised goals and objectives. This concept should be of specialized interest to educational leaders implementing plans, because if properly utilized, it will help to ensure the commitment and support that is essential to facilitate needed changes.

Management planning, on the other hand, is concerned with the effective and accepted managing of the organization members. It may, therefore, be conceptualized as after the basic decisions relating to goals and policies have been made.

The planning process is different from one plan to another and one organization to another. According to Newman (1996), the steps in planning are analysis of the internal and external environment, determination of the objectives, determining planning premises and constraints, examination of alternative course of actions, weighing alternative course of actions, selection of the best alternative and follow-up.

Therefore principals should know that the participation of teachers and school community in formulating plan, since they are implementers, could bring success on the attainment of the school goals. Succession planning is essential to expand the applicant pool for school leadership and increase the quantity and quality of future school leaders. Leadership succession cannot rely on self-selection by talented candidates. Proactive strategies are needed to identify and develop future leaders with high potential early in their careers. They then need to be supported in participating in leadership experiences and encouraged to develop their leadership skills.

#### 2.6.2 Delegation of Authority

Creative leaders ought not to avoid delegation of authority. Delegation is the process by which leaders allocate authority to the people who report to them (Megginson et. al., 1983).

However, before delegation, the delegate must have to know daily tasks to be delegated besides whom to delegate. Delegation of authority in general, is critical for effective management because in an organization a single man cannot perform several duties unless shared to others. In addition, delegation reduces burden of work and facilitates staff empowerment.

## 2.6.3 Organizing

Organizing involves determining how activities and resources are to be grouped. Dumaine (1993) stated the 5 basic elements of organizing which includes job design, departmentalization, authority relationships, span of control and line and staff roles. The five together make all the major decisions that affect the overall organization;

#### 2.6.4 Communication

Communication is central for every activities of the organization and it is essential for the survival of the system. According to Chandan (1987), "effective management is a function of effective communication." This shows that communication is one of the duties of the leader to integrate organized activities and to change people"s behavior by providing sufficient information useful to the achievement of the goal of the organization and the group as well.

Luthans (1989) has suggested that effective communication is a basic prerequisite for the attainment of organizational goals, and yet it has remained one of the biggest problems facing modern management, however great an idea is, it is practically useless until it is transmitted and understood by others who are concerned with it. Communication is purposive and full of objectives. The first objective is to obtain the understanding when any message is passed from an individual or group to another. The second is to obtain the response that is required from the receiver.

According to Haneryger and Heckmanna (1967) communication has three dimensions. These are downward, upward and horizontal communications. Downward communication, which refers to the transmission from higher officials to the subordinates, is the most frequently used and relied upon in every dimension of communication. In school system, the principals gives the staff orders and instructions that they are expected to do and to follow. Upward communication is

sending of information from the subordinate to the top. Such communication is important to provide feedback to the leader. It is important for the principal to talk in detail with the teachers and students in different levels. The horizontal dimension is between department and people of the same level in an organization.

Okumbe (1998) describes that horizontal dimension of communication is very important for the operation of any task. The term refers to the flow of information between departments or people of the same level in an organization.

According to Robbins (1989), in a perfect communication a thought or an idea is transmitted fully so that the mental of the receiver perceived exactly what the sender transmitted, receiver is exactly the same as that envisioned by the sender. In practice, however, perfect communication is never achieved due to communication barriers. Communication in organization is crucial for the management task of planning, organizing, staffing, leading, and controlling. An efficient and effective communication system establishes a high level of relationship between and among teachers, non-teaching staff, students and parents. It helps in interchanging thoughts and coordinating efforts for the attainment of organizational goal. Generally, the school leaders must be effective in facilitating communication in imparting directives and orders to the staff as well as receiving their ideas feelings and thoughts to maintain or change leadership.

## 2.6.5 Decision Making

The ability to make effective decision is vital to any individual success as a leader. The competence of the school principal depends on the leader's ability to make a correct choice out of the possible alternatives, and all, the implementation of the decision employing correct leadership style. According to Musaazi (1982), decision making is a ,,"a conscious choice from among a well defined set of competing alternatives". A leader in any organization has to make the right decision at the right time; this shows that in the school system, the ability of effective decision making is useful to the principal in his instructional leadership.

Some of the advantages of participative decision making are: self-reliance on the parts of teacher's professional development, high acceptance, smooth relationship, sense of ownership and better understanding on what problems exist (Donelly, 1990). In connection to this, Ezewu (1990) also points out that, the mere teachers are participated in the process of decision making, the more likely they are to make initiative in accomplishing their roles effectively and efficiently.

#### 2.6.6 Motivation

Motivation is a factor, which closely affects the performance of work and the overall efficiency of an organization. Luthans (1989) defined motivation as a process that starts with a physiological and psychological deficiency or need that activates behavior or a drive that is aimed at a goal or incentive. Musaazi (1982) defined motivation as "the inner drive, which prompts people to act in a certain way." And suggests that the school will not be able to realize its goals fully until students, teachers, administrators themselves are sufficiently motivated.

Motivation is the combination of a person's desire and energy directed at achieving a goal. It is the cause of action. Motivation can be intrinsic-satisfaction, feeling of achievement; or extrinsic-rewards, punishment, or goal obtainment. Not all people are motivated by the same thing and over time their motivations right changes. Influencing people's motivation means getting them to want to do what you know is done (U.S. Army, 1973).

Adesina (1990) has suggested at least three major ways by which the school principal can prepare the proper atmosphere that would motivate the staff. First by providing immediate attainable goals towards the staff should work. Principals are sometimes accustomed to setting overambitious programs for their staff to ensure that they are constantly kept busy. The second way of facilitating motivation among staff is to ensure that means are provided for attaining goals set for the staff. It is useless to set goals for staff without providing means by which the goals could be attained. The third way of preparing a good atmosphere for motivation is through feedback. Undoubtedly, feedback is an important element in motivation. For maximum effectiveness feedbacks must be immediate and specific. Huneryger and Heckmanna (1967) describes about employees motivational behavior as: "if morale is high employees are satisfied and happy about their job, working conditions, pay and other aspects and employment situation and are consequently effectively and efficiently. On the other hand if they believe morale is low, they assume that employees are dissatisfied with things in general and that quality and quantity of production is accordingly low to the workers.'

The above concept of motivation stresses that satisfaction of needs and interest is a basic factor for the worker to perform their tasks and duties effectively. The heart of motivation is to give more attention what people really want most from work. What expected of a leader in an organization is to motivate the subordinates more efficiently. This is because, the leader can get the work done effectively and efficiently only if the leader properly motivates the behavior of the

subordinates. Therefore the principal, as school leader, should use different techniques such as solving teacher's personal and professional problems, giving recognition to teachers to work better for the successful achievement of the school objectives. So the school leaders are expected to see and dig out the interest and needs of the subordinates, seek to exert a type of leadership that will create the atmosphere and working conditions under which success is recognized and achieved.

## 2.6.7 School Principal as a Change Agent

Change is with us always. It is part of living and breathing. A person who resists change may find him becoming ossified and out of touch with others. Just an individual must change, so most communities and societies, including schools.

Recently the pace of change has increased and is accelerating and many people find it difficult to keep up. The ability of individuals and communities to cope with change depends to some extent upon their ability to adapt. The health of a school may be measured by the extent that is able to adapt successfully when major change is required. No organization can afford to be static and change must be managed so that it is effective (John, 1985).

The skill of making changes depends upon many factors, including the sensitivity of the leaders to the community. Change needs need to be made when the climate and attitudes are right.

# 2.7 Leadership Development in Ethiopia

Principal leadership in schools is one of the influential administrative positions in the success of school plans. With respect to the historical back ground of Principal ship, authorities give their own argument. Knezevich (cited in Ahmed, 2006) the origin of principal ship can be traced back to 1515 in the time of Johann Strum of USA. The position developed from classroom teacher with few administrative duties to principal teacher and then to supervising principal.

In the history of Ethiopian education system, Principal ship traces its origin to the introduction of Christianity in the ruling era of king Ezana of Aksumite kingdom; around the fourth century A.D. Teshome (cited in Ahmed, 2006) stated that Ethiopia for a long time had found schools for children of their adherents. However, the western type of education system was formally introduced in to Ethiopia in 1908 with the opening of Menelik II School.According to Ahmed (2006) the history of principal ship in Ethiopia was at its early age was dominated by foreign principals. In all government schools which were opened before and after Italian occupation,

expatriates from France, Britain, Sweden, Canada, Egypt and India were assigned as school principals. Soon after the restoration of independence, late 1941, education was given high priority which resulted in opening of schools in different parts of the country. At a time, most of the teachers and principals were from foreign countries such as the UK, USA, Canada, Egypt and India (ICDR, 1999).

According to MoE(2002), prior to 1962, expatriate principals were assigned in the elementary and secondary schools of different provinces of Ethiopia during the 1930's and 1940's. During this time, the principal ship positions were given to Indians, because of their experience in principal ship. In 1964, it was a turning point that Ethiopians started to replace expatriates. According to Teshome (cited in Ahmed, 2006) this new chapter of principal ship began with a supervising principal. Such a person was in charged not only or a single school but also for the educational system of the community where the school was located.

The Ethiopian school heads were directly assigned in elementary schools without competition among candidates. After 1960 it was a time that Ethiopians who were graduated with BA/BSc degree in any field were assigned as principals by senior officials of the MoE. The major criteria to select them were educational level and work experience (MoE, 2002). However, in the first, few decades of 1960's graduates of B.A degrees in pedagogy were directly assigned in secondary schools. On the other hand, career structure promotion advertisements which were issued from 1973-1976 showed that secondary school principals were those who held first degree, preferably in educational administration (EDAD) field. In addition to these teachers who had experiences as a unit leader or department head were candidates for principalship.

Currently, the job description, issued by MoE in 1989 indicated that secondary school principals should have a first degree in school administration and supervision including a sufficient work experience.

# 2.8 Factors Affecting the Effectiveness of the School Principals

The leadership responsibilities principals play an important role for the achievement of educational objectives. But in carrying out the task of leadership principals, usually face a lot of challenges or there are factor that affect their leadership effectiveness. Stressing the point different scholars listed different factors that impeded leadership responsibility of principals.

## 2.8.1Lack of Training and Skills

To be influential in discharging their educational leadership responsibilities principals need to have skills and training that make them effective and efficient leader. In line with this Glatter (1988) state that professional knowledge, skills and attitude have great important on the achievement of organizational goals and objectives and lack of skills will create an impediment to principals. According to Bennars (1994), principals are selected from teachers. All of them have barely any leadership experience or prior training in school administration and management. Confirming the idea, McEwan, (2003) state that while many institutions are restructuring their administration program to provide more opportunities to develop leadership skills. In addition to academic knowledge, a gap remains between the academic and real world.

#### 2.8.2 Lack of Resource

Resource is the means of the end. They matter in terms of the schools improvement and long term effectiveness. In research synthesis about practices in high performance schools, the finding that role to resources is evidence Ubben and Hughes (1997), in other worlds a lack of resource (Financial, physical or human) can be a serious obstacle to principal. A principal may want to lead and the situation and expectations of others may call for his leadership. But if the resources necessary to implement his/her leadership are inadequate, the principals will face a significant impede (Gorton, 1983).

# 2.8.3 Impact and Constraining Factors on Duty

The principal is the one in a school who see the entire program and holds great responsibility of his/her school. Confirming the above ideas,Bartch, (in Segiovanni, 2001) state that the principals is ultimately responsible for almost everything happens in the school and out. Responsibility other than instructional leadership will frequently press for principals time and drain his/her energy, leaving him/her with the feeling that he/she is spread for thin and even through the principals would like to be an instructional leader he/she really does not have the time to function as one. Explaining the above idea, sheldes (2004) states that, principals are expected to develop learning communities, build the professional capacity of teachers, take advise from parents engage in collaborative and consultative decision making, resolve conflict, engage in effective instructional leadership, and attained respectively, immediately and appropriately to the needs and request of families with diverse cultural, ethical and socio-economic background.

#### 2.8.4 The Personal Quality of the Principals

The principals own personalities, vision, extent of commitment, human relation skills etc. can several to constrain /hamper the exercise of leadership (Ubben and Hughes, 1997). Strengthening this ideas, Gorton (1983:264) state that if the principal does not possess the appropriate personal quality in carrying out leadership responsibilities properly.

## 2.8.5 Shortage of Time

Principals are schools representative. They have responsibility over many areas of their respective school. Hence they become busy in dealing with these responsibilities the whole work days. According to the Ubben and Hughes (1997) a school executive day is characterized by one encounter after another with staff member, students parents, community member, politicians, and others the kind of individuals or sub-groups are myriad and diverse, all of whom have questions and requires and problems demanding principals time. Thus lack of time, due to variety of task that principals deal with is another biggest problem in principals work (McEwan, 2003).

## 2.8.6 Teacher- Principals Interaction

The growth of modern school system in a size and complexity and diversity of operation has made the task of human interaction, Exceedingly difficult but more essential, for the enhancement of teaching learning process unless teachers and principals okumebe (1998) have healthy interaction.

Permits flexibility and responsiveness to change and help to coordinate diverse group efforts towards common organizational goal. It is thinkable to cope up with complex instructional operation. To run this activity the principals should be equipped with the necessary technical, human and conceptual skills of management as Stoner and Gibbert (2001) stated. The principal's large time should be allocated to mutual relationship with teachers, students ,parents and superiors .According to their plans. Without effective and continues communication it is therefore, very difficult for school. Principals to secure the purpose of the school program (Davis, 1981).

# 2.8.7 The Way of Decision Making

Decision making is process of choosing a course of action from two or more alternative (Robins 1989:, Nwankwo, 1982). For this matter individuals or organization make decision in their everyday life to achieve intended goals. The process of decision making in school principals is a

strong factor in determining the nature of leadership, the level of authority, the span of control, the degree of decision making in school principals is a strong factor in determining the nature of leadership the level of authority, the span of control, the degree of participation and cooperation, and the level of supportiveness the possibility that decisions will be. To make effective decisions several steps should be involved that are necessary to come up with rational decision (Guthrie,Jamees W. 1991). Perfect information, rationality of decision maker, multiple goals communication and common sense performance and evaluated to arrive at correct decisions.

Accordingly Kinard, (1988) Agrawall, (1991) and Katz and Kahn, (1978) stated there are different situational factors that affect decision making. They are organization, environmental and personality factors that affect decision making. As (MoE 2002) stated in the concept paper of principals the first and for most for the personal who is working in administrative line is making effective decision. As Gorton (1987) explained "To make effective decision one should collaborative with necessary bodies from the upper echelons and on the other hand with subordinates sometimes with students. Some principal's familiar with directive decision making approach by which principals more collecting information. Others exercise consultative decision making to get the idea of their subordinates even other encourages participative decision making. In this practice the principals share the problem to subordinate and both of them discuss and analyze the issue jointly.

This attitude develops mutual truest and generates strong feeling and job satisfaction. To make effective decision, the principals should know not only the alternative but also the type and effective of the decision to be made.

#### **2.8.8 Motivational Factors**

Motivation is a drive that moves or activities and individual. Dejnozka, Edward (1983) it is stated earlier specific task area of leadership would vary from one situation to another as Adesina (1990). The major task area of teaching how to the influence the behavior of subordinate to obtain maximum performance from the member of the group within the standard condition set forth in the system procedures. In this view, in school, realizing workers satisfied is the fundamental task of the school principals. Needs and roles in a school have more to do with motivation.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

## 3. Research Design and Methods

#### 3.1 Design of the study

The research design that the researcher applied is descriptive survey method. It is used to describe the way how secondary school leaders practice their roles in the schools. Descriptive research is a type of quantitative research that involves making careful descriptions of educational phenomena, concerned primarily with determining what is (Gall and Borg: 2003). School principals, Secondary School Supervisors and Yem Special Woreda education office heads were interviewed through structured interviews in order to establish dependability and conformability of the procedures and findings.

#### 3.2 Research Approach

A mixed-method research approach was employed this research. Amixed methods research design is a procedure of collecting, analyzing and "mixing" both quantitative and qualitative methods in a single study or a series of studies to understand a research problem (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). Thus, this study was conducted through a mixed method because such method ignores the weakness of studying the problem through either quantitative or qualitative method and provides more comprehensive and convenient evidence or the study (Creswell, 2012). The purpose of this study was to analyze the practice of principals' leadership in secondary schools of Yem SpecialWoreda. In this chapter the research approach, methods, procedures and data analysis were discussed as follows.

#### 3.3 Sources of Data

The researcher usedboth primaryand secondary data as a source. Theprimary data was gathered through interview and questionnaireswhile the secondary sources were from written documents as to have some background information about the issues. Documents like books, journals, research papers, published and unpublished materials and annual abstracts were examined.

## 3.4 Target Population

The main purpose of the study is to investigate the practice of secondary school principals of Yem Special Woreda. The investigator took Yem Special Woreda as a study area. Under Yem Special Woreda there are six secondary schools, namely Saja and Fofa secondary and preparatory, Toba, Somunama, Gesi and Deri Secondary Schools.

According to Gay (1981), to take the acceptance sample size for descriptive research sample of 10% of the population is considered minimum and for a small population 20% may be required. Due to this all principals and vice principals of the 6 secondary schools were part of the study. So 6principals and 2 vice principals were included as a respondent to respond questionnaire and interview. Teachers were also part of the research work that was expected to respond. So from the given 6 secondary schools a total of 48 teachers (29.6%) were selected as a respondent. Interview were made with all 6 principals (100%) and 2 vice principals (100%). There are a total of 19 education office worker in the Yem Special Woreda and the researcher included 6 (31.6%) officers as a respondent. There are a total of 2 secondary school supervisors in the Yem Special Woreda and the researcher included all of them (100%) supervisors as a respondent in the study. Principals, vice principals and supervisors were selected purposefully, but some teachers were selected as they are easily available in the school.

# 3.5 Sample and sample size

As Gall and Borg (2003) defined a target population as all the members of a real or hypothetical set of people, events, or objects to generalize the results of their research (p.167). The target population for this study consisted of Teachers, Secondary School Principals, Vice principals, Supervisors and YemSpecilaWoreda education office workers.

**Table 3.1 Population and Sample Size of Respondents** 

Target Group	Total		Sample Size		Sampling	
	Population				Technique	
	N <u>O</u>	%	N <u>O</u>	%		
Secondary School's Teachers	162	100	48	30	Simple Random	
Secondary School's Principal	6	100	6	100	Purposive	
Secondary School's vice Principal	2	100	2	100	Purposive	
Secondary School's Supervisor	2	100	2	100	Purposive	
Yem Special woreda Education Office	19	100	6	30	Simple Random	
workers						
Total	191	100	64	34		

Table 3.2 Population and Sample Size of Respondents by Sex

Target population		Total population			Sample Size		
		M	F	Т	М	F	T
Fofa preparatory Scho	ol Teachers	48	10	58	16	5	21
Saja preparatory School Teachers		42	6	48	12	2	14
Toba Secondary School Teachers		16	3	19	4	1	5
Deri Secondary School Teachers		11	4	5	3	1	4
Somunama Secondary School Teachers		10	1	11	2	-	2
Gesi Secondary School Teachers		9	2	11	2	-	2
Sub Total		136	26	162	39	9	48
	Principal	6	-	6	6	-	6
Secondary School	Vic principal	2	-	2	2	-	2
	Supervisor	2	-	2	2	-	2
Woreda Education Office Workers		17	2	19	5	1	6
Total		163	28	191	54	10	64

#### 3.5 Data collection instrument and procedures .

Information was obtained through various ways Close ended questionnaire was set by the investigator and responded by teachers to gather quantitative data for the study (Appendix A). The Questionnaire was comprised of items using a 5–point–likert scale. There were an interview which was made with principals, vice principals, supervisors and Education office workers to gather qualitative data for the study (Appendix B). Document analysis was also served as tools for data collection in order to make reliable the information which was gathered and to measure the practices of school principal leadership in the selected six secondary schools.

#### 3.6 Procedures of Data Collection

The questionnaire were distributed to the respondents and given adequate time for the participants to answer the survey and returned within the time frame. To ensure data integrity, the data were collected through questionnaire and analyzed a follow up interview. Informants were selected by convenience sampling for the interview portion of the study. The informants were conducted face to face and asked to participate in the study. Interviews were conducted in person at their respective working places .The interviewees were given sufficient time to preview the questions and consent information prior to the interviews. A professional, but relax atmosphere was maintained in the interviews. After that the gathered and collecteddata were

analyzed, presented and interpreted quantitatively as well as qualitatively. Finally the study summarized and concluded; the suggested recommendations were also forwarded.

### 3.7.Method of Data Analysis

A mixed-method approach was used in this study, combining both qualitative and quantitative components. Both closed and open ended types of questions was used to obtain necessary data for the analysis and the data gathered was analyzed using mean and percentage. The mean and percentage were applied to summarize set of numerical data collected by rating Likert scales questionnaires. Because this measurements provided good description of how members of a sample scored on particular measurements (Best and James, 2004).

In other side qualitative data analysis from open ended questions were mixed in concurrent with discussion of quantitative inquiry examined from questionnaires. The qualitative interview questions were organized and interpreted in words to triangulate the quantitative findings simultaneously.

**3.8 Ethical consideration** Ethical clearance and approval letter to conduct study was obtained from Jimma University Institutional Review Board to communicate with the schools administrative body in Jimma Zone Educational office. Permission letter was obtained from administrative body of each School. Finally, verbal consent was obtained from the subjects included in the study immediately before the distribution of questionnaire.

### **CHAPTER FOUR**

### 4 .Presentation, Analysis and Interpretation of Data

#### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with the presentation, analysis and interpretation of data collected from respondents through questionnaire structured interview and document analysis. The study includes 48 teachers, 6 principals, 2 Vice principals from six secondary schools, 2 secondary school supervisors and 6 education officials who were part of the study.28.5% of teacher respondents have work experience within the age range of 6–10 years whereas the majority (80%) of principals, (84%) of vice principals and (50%) of Supervisors have experience 1-5 years of the current position but they have more than six years' experience in teaching except one vice principal. Out of all principals and vice principal no one were trained in principalship, from this one may conclude that principals were former teachers and principal position was not assigned due to their qualification for leadership and management but through appointment or other criteria by Yem Special WoretaEducation Offices (SCEOs). Since leadership requires knowledge and skill of the field, effectiveness of leadership may not realize with this less trained school leaders. All supervisors (100%) have qualified. The majority of teachers are within the age range of 26–30 years and majority (57.9%) of education official respondents are within the age range of 41 and above years similarly majority (60%) of principals, (66.7%) of vice principals and 100% of supervisors are within the age range of 41 and above years.

The questionnaire which was distributed to 48 teachers was wholly returned to the researcher. To further ensure the integrity and confirmatory purposes of the qualitative data were interview were conducted in analyzing the data. According to Gall, Gall and Borg (2003:32) triangulation is the process of using multiple data collection methods, data sources or theories to check study findings. Interview were conducted for All (100%) secondary school principals, all supervisors and for 6 (31.6%) of Yem SpecialWoredaeducation officials.

## **4.2 Socio- Demographic Information of the Respondents**

Table 4.1 Socio –demographic Characteristics of Respondents

No		Characteristics	Frequency	Percentage
		Male	108	68
1	Sex of Respondents	Female	52	32
		Total	160	100
		20-30	43	27
		31-40	95	59
2	Age of Respondent	41-50	21	13
		Above 50	1	1
		Total	160	100
		Diploma	9	5.6
		Degree	139	86.8
3	Qualification	Postgraduate	12	7.5
		Total	160	100
		01-05	28	17
4		06-10	86	54
	Work experience	11-15	37	23
		15 and above	9	6
		Total	160	100

Source: Own survey questionnaire, (2020)

Regarding the sex majority of the respondents were male which account for 108(68 %). Next, majority 95(59%) of the participants were found between 31-40age. Regarding, the educational back ground of the respondents, majority 139(86.8%) of them were degree holders, 12(7.5%) were post graduate teachers and minority 9(5.6)of them were diploma holders.

As table 4.2 also confirm that ,majority (54%) of the participants has 6-10 year of work experiences, (23%) of the respondents are working in this organization for 11-15 years, as well as (17%) of them has 1-5 work experience, and the rest (6%) of them has more than 15 years' work experiences.

Table 4.1 Principals' Leadership Practice in Effective Planning

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	Develop clear and specific plan	5	5	38			3.31
2	Facilitate stakeholders' participationin planning		10	22	16		2.88
3	Develop simple, measurable, achievable,			2	40	6	1.91
	realistic and time bounded plan						
4	Ability to communicate vision of the plan			27	21		2.57
5	Implementation status depending on annual planning		7	28	13		2.88
6	Regular staff meeting to discuss about the plan				15	33	1.31

As shown on table 4.1 the practice of developing clear and specific planning of principals teachers responded good(mean=3.31). On the same table item 2, regarding to facilitating stakeholders" participation in planning teachers responded again good (mean 2.88), also majority of teachers responded good (mean 2.57) for principals" ability to communicate vision of the plan, in the same manner majority of teachers responded good (mean 2.88) in implementation status depending on annual planning. But majority of teacher respondents responded fair (mean 1.91) for principals practice in developing simple, measurable, achievable, and realistic and time bounded plan. Finally majority of teacher respondents responded that principals were poor (mean1.31) in regular staff meeting to discuss about the plan.

**Table 4.2 Principal's Performance in Goal Clarification** 

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	The principal is capable of making clear the school goals and objectives to teachers and students				11	37	1.23
2	The principal is capable in setting directions and encouraging the staff towards achieving the expected goals				12	36	1.24

As shown on table 4.2, item 1 deals with principals" skill in developing school goals and objectives to teachers and students hence, majority of teachers responded poor (mean=1.23). Concerning the capability of principals in setting directions and encouraging the staff towards the achievement of expected goals as depicted in item 2, teachers replied poor (mean=1.24). This may be due to the fact that principals were not qualified or trained in such areas.

Table 4.3 Current Practice of Principals' Leadership in Organizing Process

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	
1	Set a standard for each activity to be completed			2	11	35	1.31
	on time						
2	Establish simple, clear and save method of data				14	34	1.29
	handling system						
3	Give meaning to collect data				13	35	1.28

As depicted on table 4.3 majority of teachers" responded that standards set by principals for each activity to be completed on time were poor (mean= 1.31)

Similarly majority of teachers" responded poor (mean=1.29) for establishing simple, clear, and save method of data handling system. Again the performance of teachers in giving meaning to collect data were poor (mean=1.28) as reflected by majority of teachers.

**Table 4.4 Principals' Leadership Practice in Decision Making Process** 

No	Item	Degree					
•		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	
1	Ability to prioritize problems		5	9	30	4	2.31
2	Ability to evaluate various alternatives		5	10	29	4	2.34
3	Ability to address problems timely		10	22	16		2.88
4	Ability of using participatory decision making process			44	4		2.92
5	Follow up for continuous improvement			2	36	10	1.84

As depicted on table 4.4 item1, portrays school leader's ability to prioritize problems. Accordingly, majority of teachers replied fair (mean=2.31). Item 2 on the same table shows the ability of principals to evaluate various alternatives is good (mean =2.34). Items no 3 and 4 have the same response that educational leaders in schools are good in ability to address problems timely (mean=2.88) and using participatory decision making process for problems (mean=2.92). But majority of teachers responded fair (mean=1.84) for principal follow up for continuous improvement after making solution for problems.

**Table 4.5 Resource Management Capacity of Principals'** 

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	
1	The school leader is capable to perform and utilize the allocated current budget and available resources effectively		7	41			3.14
2	Facilitate auditing, inventory and monitoring to reduce corruption			34	13	1	2.69
3	Keep accurate and complete resource record		30	18			3.63

As shown on table 4.5, principals are good (mean=3.14) at performing and utilizing the allotted current budget and available resources effectively. In the same manner, principals acting in facilitating auditing, inventory and monitoring to reduce corruption were good (mean=2.69). But school leaders" capacity on keeping accurate and complete resource record is found at a very good level (mean=3.63).

Table 4.6 Principals' Leadership Practice in bringing ready for Change

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	Commitment to facilitate change			2	6	40	1.20
2	Inviting change and innovation			2	16	30	1.42
3	Ability to mobilize stakeholders to bring change			4	20	24	1.58
4	Ability of overcomingresistance to change				13	35	1.27
5	Create a conducive environment to promote development			2	42	4	1.96

From the table 4.6 it is depicted that large numbers of respondents of teachers (84.7%) perceived and reflected on leaders commitment to facilitate change were poor(mean=1.20) and besides this on item 2 majority (86%) of teacher respondents respond poor(mean=1.42) to the ability of leaders to inviting change and innovation. Similarly on item 3 majority of respondents (59%) reflected that the ability to mobilize stakeholders to bring change were also poor (mean =1.58), moreover ability of principals to overcome resistance to change, majority of respondents (72.9%) respond poor (mean=1.72) but on items 5 majority of respondents(80.5%) reflected that leaders are fair (mean=1.96) to create a conducive environment to promote development.

**Table 4.7 Factors that Affect Principals' Leadership Roles** 

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	
1	Trust of the school leader by the school			2	40	6	1.92
	community						
2	Principal encourage formaland informal groups			2	9	37	1.27
	to contribute to the school improvement						
3	The principal works to improve students		5	20	14	9	2.43
	disciplinary problems in school						
4	Use of leadership style			15	33		2.31
5	Level of conflict between teachers and principal		8	22	18		2.78
6	The principal make him /herself free from			3	17	28	1.49
	routine tasks						
7	The school leader gives incentive to the school				5	43	1.11
	community for their best performance						

There are a number of problems that exist in the school system and affect Principals' leadership role. Leaders do not perform equally in different situation and in different schools. This is true due to many factors like social, political, teachers and students" behavior, limited acceptance of leader, and so on.

In this study let's see the problems that affect school Principals' as responded by teachers in order to play their basic leadership roles. Trustfulness of the school leader by the school community and use of leadership style both were rated faire (mean=1.92 and 2.31) respectively. While encouraging formal and informal groups to contribute to the school improvement and providing incentive to the school community for their best performance, the respondents were rated poor (mean=1.27 and mean=1.11) respectively. But majority of teacher respondents respond good (mean=2.43) for the principal works to improve students disciplinary problems in the school and majority of respondents reflected again good (mean= 2.78) for the level of conflict between teachers and principals. Teachers" respondents respond principals mostly were focused on routine tasks as shown on item no.6 of table 4.7.

Table 4.8 Principal's Role in Supervision of Classroom

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	The principal visits the classroom often to ensure classroom instruction					48	1.00
2	The Principal observes teachers for professional development instead of evaluation				3	45	1.06
3	The principal encourages in –built supervisions within the school				11	37	1.22
4	Arrange meeting with teachers to share experience after supervision				8	40	1.17

As depicted on table 4.8, majority of respondents reported the same idea that was poor for item 1 to item 4 accordingly. All teachers respond that, principals were not observing classroom to ensure classroom instruction. Accordingly, majority of respondents of teachers reported poor (mean=1.06) for the principal observation of teachers were for evaluation instead of professional development. From this we infer that principals were observing teachers only for judgment and reporting. Regarding in built supervision encouragements" with in school and an arrangement of meeting with teachers to share experiences after supervision, as indicated in items No 3 and 4, all

respondents of these items replied poor (mean=1.22 and mean=1.17) respectively. From this we infer that supervision of classroom or in built supervision were not carried out frequently and even the observations were not for teachers" professionally development. But principals have the responsibilities to encourage in built supervision with in schools and to arrange seminars with teachers to share experience after supervision (MOE, 1994 E.C:34).

Table 4-.9 Principals' Role in Making Relationship and Work Together

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	The school leader works to make school community members more active participants in problem solving and academic activities of the school			2	28	18	1.67
2	The Principal let parents of the students to involve in financial support to the school		6	42			3.13
3	The principal ability to delegate and share responsibility is effective			17	25	6	2.22

As depicted on table 4.9, item 1 portrays how principals work to make school community members more active participants in problem solving and academic activities of the school. Accordingly teachers replied fair (mean=1.67). On the other hand the second item on the same table reveals how principals motivate and influence parents to support the school by their financial resources were good (mean=3.13). Finally the last item tells us that the majority of teachers respondents agreed that the principal ability to delegate and share responsibility is fair (mean=2.22).

From the forgoing discussions above, we see that almost in all items that raised on table 9, the involvement of parents were fair, even if their involvement on supporting schools by financial resources were indicate good. This may affect the schools in many different ways. According to Walker and Dimmock (2002:77) it is the school leader role that has to play central roles in

linking the internal and external environment of the school. Ubben and Hughes (1997:50) also state that schools are not an island that exists a part from main land.

Table 4.10 Principals' Role in Staff Development

No	Item	Degree					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	Help to provide short term training at school			2	18	28	1.46
	level by preparing academic meeting						
2	Develop a mechanisms by which competent					48	1.00
	teachers share their experiences for teaching						
	methodologies with their colleagues						
3	Read different current educational publications				1	47	1.03
	and encourage teachers to do so and to attend						
	professional development program						

As depicted on table 4.10 Item 1 portray principals" role of providing short term training by preparing academic meeting or work shop to teacher. Hence, majority of teachers responded poor (mean=1.46). Item 2, portray principals" role in developing mechanisms by which competent teachers share their experience with colleagues. Similarly, all teachers replied poor (mean=1.00). Regarding principals" role in reading different current educational publications and encouraging teachers to read different current educational publications and to attend professional development program were rated poor (mean=1.03). No one can deny that in school meeting /seminar/ and workshops are crucial mechanism to enhance the quality of teaching and learning process. Moreover, if competent teachers share their experiences with colleagues, it will make the schools more fruitful and sounded. In line with this MOE (1994 E.C: 33) state that principals has develop mechanism by which competent teachers share their experience with the staff. Moreover, it is the responsibilities of principals to prepare short term training by preparing academic meeting and workshops at school levels. Thus, from this we infer teachers" professional development was not improving still; in the long run it may cause them out dated and the schools are becoming unproductive institutions.

**Table 4.11 Principal's Role in Evaluating Academic out Comes** 

No	Item	Degree					
•		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	-
1	Evaluating the ongoing achievement of the			17	25	6	2.22
	teaching – learning process in each semester and						
	improving the instructional process based on						
	evaluation results						
2	The principal provides private feedback to			30	13	5	2.51
	teachers and has capable of evaluating and						
	making fair judgment						

As depicted on table 4.11 item 1 portrays principals' role in evaluating the ongoing achievement of teaching-learning process in each semester and making use of evaluation results in improving the instructional process based on evaluation results. Accordingly, majority of teachers responded fair (mean=2.22). As shown in the same table item 2 concerning the provision of private feedback to teachers on time and has capable of evaluating and making fair judgment as the response of majority of teachers indicated good (mean=2.51).

Table 4.12 The major factors that affect the practice of principal's leadership

No	Item	Degree of response					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
		No	No	No	No	No	
1	The school is manageable		16	32			3.33
2	The school is conducive for teaching learning activities		8	17	14	9	2.51
3	The school has good Societal and Organizational culture			4	19	25	1.56
4	Roles and relationships of principals are clear to all school community			2	30	16	1.7

From the above table 4.12, the data in item 1 indicate that the majority of teachers responded that manageability of the schools were good (mean=3.33). Similarly majority of teachers responded that schools were conducive for teaching learning activities (mean=2.51) on the contrary majority of teachers show their feelings that principals roles and relationships were clear to all school community was fair (mean=1.70), but regarding to item no. 3, the majority of the respondents of teachers responded that, the schools were poor (mean=1.56) in Societal and Organizational culture. Hence Organizational culture is, as Sergiovanni (2001) stated "... the glue that holds a particular school together with shared visions, values and beliefs at its heart, culture serves as compass setting, steering people in common direction. So that principals and teachers are waking in different directions.

Table 4.13 Reasons why the practice of principals' leadership is not successful

No	Item	Degree of response					
		5	4	3	2	1	Mean
	Internal factors	No	No	No	No	No	
1	The existing education policy is well accepted		8	25	15		2.86
	by the school community						
2	Teachers are encouraged to participate in all				4	44	1.08
	activities						
3	Existence of good qualified teachers and non-	11	34	2	1		4.19
	teaching personnel						
4	Good allocation of resources		10	27	11		2.97
	External factors						
5	Absence of political influence			2	29	17	1.68
6	Community participation and Social value			4	16	28	1.51
7	Higher official support from the sector				11	37	1.22

As depicted on the table 4.13 large number of teachers responded good (mean 2.86 and 2.97) in 2 items (items 1 and 4) respectively as shown correspondingly to its rate of respondents, that were the existing education policy was well accepted by the school community (mean=2.86), as majority of teachers respondents there were good (mean=2.97) allocation of resources. Regarding to absence of political influence, large number of respondents responded fair (mean=1.68), teachers encouragement to participate in all activities were poor (mean=1.08). The major task area of teaching how to influence the behavior of subordinate to obtain maximum performance from the member of the group within the standard condition set forth in the system procedures Adesina (1990:151). In this view, in school, realizing workers satisfied is the fundamental task of the school principals. Needs and roles in a school have more to do with motivation. Teachers responded that principals were poor (mean=1.51) in social participation and social value in the school. In the same manner teachers replied poor (mean=1.22) for the issues of higher official support from the sector. Principals were also argued for this issue that there was no technical support from the higher officers rather than checking and asking different statistical data.

### **CHAPTER FIVE**

### 5. Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations

This chapter consists of summary of the major findings, conclusion drawn from the findings, and finally the recommendation parts.

### **5.1 Summary of Findings**

The attempt of the study was to assess the practices of the secondary school principals' leadership in their discharging their educational responsibilities. To this end, a descriptive survey design was used in order to achieve the purpose of the study based on the following basic questions.

- 1. How is the practices of principals' leadership in secondary schools of Yem Special Woreda?
- 2. What are the major factors that affect the practices of principals' leadership in the secondary schools of Yem Special Woreda?
- 3. What are the measures taken to improve principals' leadership in the secondary schools in Yem Special Woreda?

A mixed approach was used in this study, combining both qualitative and quantitative components .Both closed and open ended types of questions were used to obtain necessary data for the analysis . Accordingly the major findings are summarized here under.

- As it was understood from the analysis, school principals concerning to their qualification, 100% of school principals in secondary schools of Yem Special Woreda are not qualified in educational planning and management or not trained in the area of educational leadership.
- According to responses shown from respondents, principals' practice in regular staff meeting to discuss about the plan was poor.
- ➤ Based on the responses , principals' capability to facilitate stakeholders' participation in planning, ability to communicate vision of the plan and Implementation status depending on annual planning were poor. On the other hand from the interview of principals they put their performance as good in the area of facilitating stakeholder's participation in planning and ability to communicate vision of the plan and Implementation status depending on annual planning.

- > School principals 'capability where poorly rated in making clear the goals and objectives to teachers and students and in setting direction towards achieving the expected goals.
- ➤ Teachers were poorly rated in setting standard by school principals for each activity to be completed on time, establish simple, clear and save method of data handling system and give meaning to collect data but from the interview of principals, majority of them didn't accept this idea.
- > Secondary school principals are poor in inviting change, innovation and ability to mobilize stakeholders to bring change and create a conducive environment to promote development.
- School principals were poorly rated in classroom observation to ensure classroom instruction align with school goals, in observing teachers for their professional development instead of evaluation, in encouraging in built supervisions within the school and in arranging meeting with teachers to share experience after supervision.
- School principals were poorly rated in their role of staff development in developing mechanism by which competent teachers share their experience with colleagues, in providing short term training by preparing academic meeting and workshop, in reading current educational publication and encouraging teachers to attend professional development program.
- ➤ In the case of evaluating the ongoing achievement of the teaching-learning process in each semester and improving the instructional process based on evaluation results principals are rated poor. Similarly the interview of supervisors indicated, principals do not have enough time to visit classroom and providing timely feedback for teachers.
- > Teachers were poorly rated the principals in their Societal and Organizational culture development of the school.
- > Principals were also poorly rated in their role of encouragement of the staff to participate in all activities.
- The principals are also poor in social participation and similarly from the interview of supervisors' majority of school principals are not active in participating parents.
- > Principals are not obtaining technical Support from the education sector.

### **5.2 Conclusions**

Based on the finding, the following conclusion were given:

- There was significance difference between teachers and principals in responding to:
- Facilitating stakeholder's participation in planning and ability to communicate vision of the plan and Implementation status depending on annual planning. And
- Making recent data collection mechanism, and give meaning to collected data. This implies that either principal put themselves over what they practiced in reality or teachers are not willing to accept and recognize the performance of their leaders.
- ❖ Concerning time allocation principals are not spend their academic time for proper work but they mostly consume the time for routine tasks it is another biggest problem in principals work. So principals were not following their procedure to use their time in a proper and wise way.
- ❖ Frequent classroom observations were not carried out by principals who were expected from them so as to improve the teaching-learning process. Moreover, principals didn't arrange condition for experience sharing after supervision and not motivate teachers for professional development through which teachers' increases their academic performance.
- ❖ Principals are not good in evaluating the ongoing achievement of the teaching-learning process in each semester and improving the instructional process based on evaluation results. Without evaluating the ongoing achievement of the teaching-learning process it is difficult to make effective decision.
- ❖ Societal and Organizational culture of the schools were very week. Therefore, administrative functions and organizational success were not influenced by organizational culture. Simply employees were doing their work without motivation, leadership, decision making, communication and change.
- ❖ There were no teachers' encouragement to participate in all activities, student parent participation and higher official support from the sector. Hence there were no self-reliance on the parts of teacher's professional development, high acceptance, smooth relationship, sense of ownership and better understanding on what the school is doing.

#### **5.3 Recommendations**

Depending on the results of the study and the review of related literature, the following recommendations are put forward.

- ✓ leadership is a profession which has its own theories and implications. Therefore, secondary school principals should be recruited based on their educational merits.
- ✓ Heavily work load has been found impeding principals' effort to support the teachinglearning process in their capacity. Administrative assignments other than the official instructional role were absorbing their time and effort. Thus, the education Bureau need to revise a clear job description that enables principals focuses on the growth and development of school community.
- ✓ Parents' involvement in schools' affairs has been found to be low. Thus, principals including the concerned body need to inform and influence parents relentlessly for their more involvement in the school affairs. Moreover, principals themselves need to work more with parents.
- ✓ Regular evaluation of instructional process is one aspect of the role of instructional leaders. Moreover, using evaluation result to improve instructional process is what makes complete this aspect of principals' role in promotion of instructional process. However, even if principals carried out regular evaluation result in the teaching-learning process, they were not using evaluation results to enhance the instructional process. Hence, principals must use evaluation results to improve teaching-learning process rather than using it only for judgments and reporting.
- ✓ Schools are organizations where different school communities exist to work together for the attainment of schools' goals and objectives which are not possible for principals alone. However, principals were not participative in involving and working with school communities in different school affairs.

Hence, principals must work together with school communities in different school affairs by involving them.

To sum up, further study and due attention should be given to school leadership by responsible bodies so as to address the challenges more adequately and to invest for the future betterment of the coming generation.

### REFERENCES

- Adesina, S. (1990). Educational Management. Nigeria: Forth Dimension Publish.
- Agrawall, R, D (1993). **Organization and Management**. New Delhi: Tata McGraw Hill pub, comp. Ltd.
- Bennars, A. et.al (1994). Theory and practice of Educational, Nairobi. EA Educational pub. Ltd
- Brundrett, M. and Terrel Ian (2004).Learning to lead in the 2nd school, London: RouteldgeFalmer.
- Bush, T. and Heystek, J. (2006), School Leadership and Management in South Africa:

  Principals' perceptions; International Studies in Educational Administration, forthcoming
- Chance, E.W (1991).**Restructuring the principal and an educational Vision**: key to success, ERIC document Reproduction service.
- **charismatic leadership theories.** Leadership quarterly, 10(2), 285 305.
- Culberston, Jack A., et al., (1971), the Simulation of on Urban School System: Columbus
- Davis, K. (1967), **Human Relation at Work:** The Dynamics of Organizational Behavior: New York: McGraw Hill, Inc.
- Davis, K. (1981), **Human Relation of work.**New Delhi Tata. McGraw. Hill publishing Company.
- Dejnozka, Edward L (1983) **Educational Administration Glossary.** London: Green wood Press.
- Dimmock, C (1993). School Base Management and School Effectiveness, London
- Donelly, H. (1990), **Fundamentals of Management**; New York; Von Hoftmann Press, Inc. and New York: Routledge.
- Ezewu, E. (1990), Sociology of Education:; Longman Singapore Publisher Ltd. Singapore
- Glatter, R. et.al (1988). **Understanding School Management**, Philadelphia: Open University

- Gorton, Richard A, (1983). **School Administration and Supervision:** Leadership Challenges and opportunities. 2nd ed. Dubuque, lowa: w.c Broun co. publishers.
- Guthrie, James. Wand Rodney J. Reed (1999). **Educational Administration and Policy:**Effective Leadership for American Educational (2nd ed), Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Hanson, E. Mark (1996). **Educational Administration and Organizational Behavior (4th ed.),**Boston: Allyn and Bacon
- Harris,A, and Muijs Daniel (2005). **Improving School Through teaching Leadership,** UK: Ohio University.
- Harris, A. et. al (2003). "**The Changing context of Leadership: Research,** Theory and Practice." In Harris et.al. Effective Leadership for School Improvement, London
- Heresy, P. et.al (1998). **Management of Organizational Behavior:** utilizing Human Resource (7th ed.), New Delhi: Parentice. Hall Inc.
- Hopkins, D, (2000), **Beyond School Improvement:** Valuing Educational Reform, London, Falmer Press (forthcoming)
- Kinard Jerry (1988) **Management. Lexington:** Dc: Health and Company
- Koontz, et. al., (1984), Educational Administration and Leadership: New York
- Koontz, H. and HenzWeihrich (1988). **Management.** (9th ed.) New York. McGraw Hill Book Company.
- Kreitner.R. and Angelo Kinick (2001).**Organizational Behavior**, (5th ed), Boston: McGraw. Hill Book Company.
- Landers, T.J. and Myers, J.G (1977). **Essentials of School Management.** Philadelphia: W.B Saundres Company.
- Luneburg, F.e and allan C. Ornstein (1991). **Educational Administration Concepts and Practice,** Belmont, CA: Wadsworth publishing Company.
- Luthans, F. (1989), **Organizational Behaviour:** 5th Ed., New York: McGraw Hill Book Company

- Mc Ewan. E.K. (2003). Seven steps to Effective Instructional Leadership (2nd ed). California: crowin press, Inc.
- McGregor, D. (1966), Leadership and Motivation: USA.
- Mc Laughlin, M.W. (1987). **Learning from Experience: Lessons from Policy Implementation,** Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis: 9 (2). 171-178
- MN Mishra (2001). Organizational Behavior. New Delhi: Banaras Hindu University,
- MOE (1994). Transitional Government of Ethiopia Education and Training Policy
- Mojkowski, C. (1991), **Developing Leaders for Restructuring Schools: New Habits of Mind and Heart;** Washington D.C; Office of Educational Research and Improvement, US Dept of Education
- Monahan, W.G and Herbert R. Hengst (1982). **Contemporary Educational Administration**, New York: Macmillan Publishing co.
- Moorhead, G and Ricky W. Griffin (1995). **Organizational Behavior: Managing people and organization,** (3r ed), Boston Houghton Mifflin.
- Morphet et.al (1982). **Educational Organization and Administration:** Concepts, practices, and issues 4th ed. Englewood cliffs, N.J: prentice. Hall.
- Mussazi, J. (1988). **The Theory and Practice of Educational Administration:** New Jersey; prentice-Hill Inc.
- Newman, L. (1996). Authentic Achievement: Restructuring Schools for Intellectual Quality; San Francisco, Jossey Bass
- Northouse, P.(2001). Leadership theory and practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- NWankwo, J. (1982). **Educational Administration Theory and practice.** New Delhi: Vikas publishing House Pvt. Ltd.
- Okumbe, J.A (1998). **Educational Management Theory and practice**. Nairobi: University press.

- Owens, R. (1987). **Organizational Behavior in Education (3rd ed.):** New Jersey; prentice hall, Inc.
- Peretomode, V.F (1991). **Educational Administration. Applied concepts and Theoretical perspective,** Lagos: Joja Educational Research and publishers Ltd.

publications

- Rashid, A and Archer H. (1983). Organizational Behavior, Toronto: Methuen publications.
- Sergiovanni, J. (1995). The Life World of Leadership: Creating Culture, Community and Personnel Meaning in Our Schools; San Francisco, Jossey-Bass
- Sergiovanni, T.J (2001). **The principalship: A reflective practice perspective,** (4th de.), Boston: Ayllyn and Bacon.
- Sharma, B.M. (2005). School Administration, New Delhi: Common Wealth Publishing
- Sheldes, M. Carolyn. (2004). "Dialogue Leadership for Social Justice," Educational Administration Quarterly Vol. 40, No.1Limited. New Delhi, pp 628
- Stogdill, M,Ralph (1976) **HAND Book of Leadership.** New York: Free press.
- Stoner, F. Freeman, E. and Gibbert, R. (2001). **Management** (16th edition), Pre Ntice-Hall of India private Sharma, B.M. (2005). **School Administration**, New Delhi: Common Wealth Publishing.
- U. S. Army (1973), **Military Leadership:** U.S .Army Handbook, San Fransisco, CA: W.H. Freeman
- Ubben, G. and Hughes, W. (1997), **The Principal: Creative Leadership for Effective Schools;**Tokyo, Allyn and Bacon
- Walker, A and Clive.Dimmock (2002).**School Leadership and Administration,** New York: Rutledge Falmer
- Wilson, A. (1967), **Human Relations in Management:** South Western Publishing Company.

Yem Special Woreda education bureo (2010) **Teachers and educational leadership core process owner**, annual report

Yukl, G. (1999). An evaluation of conceptual weaknesses in transformational and

## Appendix- A Jimma University

## **College of Education and Behavioral Sciences**

### **Department of Educational Planning and Management**

### Questionnaire to be filled by Teachers

### **Dear Teachers**

The main purpose of this questionnaire is to investigate the major factors affecting the practice of principals' leadership in secondary schools of Yem Special Woreda. So you are kindly requested to give genuine responses in order to make this study successful. And I would like to appreciate your genuine response to the questionnaire in advance.

**Thank** 

### you!

### **Directions: Please**

- ✓ Don't write your name.
- ✓ Make a tick mark ( $\sqrt{}$ ) in the blank spaces provided.
- ✓ Write your brief and short response in the blank spaces.

### **PART I**: Personal background of respondents

1.1 .Name of the school :
1.2.Sex: Male Female
1.3. Age: 20 -30 31-40 41-50 51 and above
1.4. Educational qualification:
Diploma Degree Masters PhD
1.5. Fields of study major:———Minor:———
1.6. Work Experience (in years)

	1.6.1. Teaching experience:	1.6.2. If other, specify it:	1.6.4. Total experience:
--	-----------------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------

**PART II:** The following questions are designed to asses some personal factors of the principal in his /her principalship.

Direction: Put "\" mark in the box against the choice appropriate to it according to your degree of agreement based on current status? Where 5- Excellent 4- Very good 3- Good 2- Fair and 1- Poor

1.Activities of Planning  -Develop clear and specific plan  -Facilitate stakeholders 'participation in planning  -Develop simple ,measurable, achievable, realistic and time bounded plan  2.Effective planning  -Ability to communicate vision of plan	5	4	3	2	1
-Facilitate stakeholders 'participation in planning  -Develop simple ,measurable, achievable, realistic and time bounded plan  2.Effective planning				1	1
-Develop simple ,measurable, achievable, realistic and time bounded plan  2.Effective planning					
2.Effective planning					
-Ability to communicate vision of plan	5	4	3	2	1
-Implementation status depending on annual planning					
-Regular staff meeting to discuss about the plan					
3.Activity of Goal clarification	5	4	3	2	1
-The principal is capable of making clear the school goals and objectives to					
teachers and students					
- The principal is capable in setting directions and encouraging the staff					
towards achieving the expected goals					
4.Organizing	5	4	3	2	1
-Set a standard for each activity to be completed on time					
-Establish simple ,clear and save method of data handling system					
-Give meaning to collect data					
5.Decision Making Process	5	4	3	2	1
-Ability to prioritize problems					
- Ability to evaluate various alternatives					
- Ability to address problems timely					
- Ability of using participatory decision making process					
6.Resource Management	5	4	3	2	1
-The school leader is capable to perform and utilize the allocated current					
budget and available resources effectively					
-Keep accurate and complete resource record					

-Facilitate auditing ,inventory and monitoring to reduce corruption					
7.School Principal as a Change Agent	5	4	3	2	1
-Commitment to facilitate change					
-Inviting change and innovation					
-Ability to mobilize stakeholders to bring change					
-Ability of overcoming resistance to change					
-Create a conducive environment to promote development					
8.Leadership Roles	5	4	3	2	1
-Trust of the school leader by the school community					
-Principal encourage formal and informal groups to contribute to the school					
improvement					
-The Principal works to improve students disciplinary problems in school					
-Use of leadership style					
-Level of conflict between teachers and principal					
-The principal make him /herself free from routine tasks					
9.Activity of Supervision	5	4	3	2	1
-The principal visits the classroom often to ensure classroom instruction					
- The principal encourages in-built supervisions within the school					
-Arrange meeting with teachers to share experience after supervision					
10.Activity of relationship and work together	5	4	3	2	1
-The school leader works to make school community members more active					
participants in problem solving and academic activities of the school					
-The principal let parents of the students to involve in financial support to the					
school					
- The principal ability to delegate and share responsibility is effective					
11.Activities to staff development	5	4	3	2	1
-Help to provide short term training at school level by preparing academic					
meeting					
Develop a machanisma by which assessment to all the development.					
-Develop a mechanisms by which competent teachers share their experiences					
for teaching methodologies with their colleagues  Pand different augment advectional publications and analysis to do.					
-Read different current educational publications and encourage teachers to do					
so and to attend professional development program  12.Activities of Evaluation	5	1	2	2	1
12.Activities of Evaluation	5	4	3	2	1

-Evaluating the ongoing achievement of the teaching -learning process in each			
semester and improving the instructional process based evaluation			
-The principal provides private feedback to teachers and has capable of			
evaluating and making fair judgment			

**PART III:** The following questions are designed to asses some organizational factors that affect the principals leadership.

**Direction**: Put "\" mark in the box against the choice appropriate to it according to your degree of agreement based on the current status of your school? Where

5- Excellent 4- Very good - Good 2- Fair and – Poor

Items	Degree of response				
13.Organizational factors	5	4	3	2	1
-The school is manageable					
-The school is conducive for teaching learning activities					
-The school has good Societal and Organizational culture					
-Roles and relationships of principals are clear to all school community					

**PART IV:** The following questions are designed to asses some factors that affect the practice of principals' leadership.

**Direction**: Put "\" mark in the box against the choice appropriate to it according to your degree of agreement based on the current status of your school? Where

5- Excellent 4- Very good 3- Good 2- Fair and 1- Poor

Items	Degree of response				
14.Situational factors	5	4	3	2	1
14.1 Internal factors					
-The existing education policy is well accepted by the school community					
-Teachers are encouraged to participate in all activities					
-Existence of good qualified teachers and non-teaching personnel					
-Good allocation of resources					
14.2 External factors					
-No political influence					
-There is good community participation and Social value					
-Higher official support from the sector is encouraging					

# Appendix-B Jimma University

# **College of Education and Behavioral Sciences**

## **Department of Educational Planning and Management**

Interview questions designed to Yem Special Woreda Education Officials, Supervisors, Principals and Vice Principals to assess the problems of secondary school principals to perform their leadership role.

### **PART I: Background**

1.1. Name of the interviewee
1.2. Sex: Female Male
1.3. Age: 25 and below 26 -35 36 - 45 46 & above
1.4. Work Experience (underline the current position)
1.4.1Teachingyears
1.4.2. Principal ship years
1.4.3. Supervision years
1.4.4 .Education office as a headyears 1.4.5 other, if any
1.5. Educational Qualification: First Degree Second Degree
1.6. Field of study: major:———Minor:———
1.7. Total work experience in years: 10 and below11 - 20 21 - 30 31 and above

# **PART II: Interview Questions**

What changes are you observed recently in Yem SpecialWoreda Second to the effort ofprincipals?	lary Schools due
2. In your view, which secondary school leader is effective in your Yem Special Why?	
3. What principals' leadership practices are good in Yem Special Woreda? secon?	•
4. What are the major organizational and situational factors that affect the effecti principal leadership?  Organizationalfactors	
Situationalfactors:	
5. What do you think of solution for the problems maintained above?	
6. In your believe, in which area training is necessary for government secondary principals?	 school